NO. 69637-8-1 
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

CINDY ALEXANDER; BLOCKER VENTURES, LLC; CHRIS CLARK; 
R. BRUCE EDGINGTON; KIPP JOHNSON and JENNIFER JOHNSON; 

GOPIKRISHNA KANURI and HIMABINDU KANURI; CHRIS 
KASPRZAK and ELIZABETH KASPRZAK; PAUL LARKINS and 
JOYCE HYOJUNG LARKINS; KRISTINE MAGNUSSEN; SCOTT 

McKILLOP; CAINE OTT and DANA OTT; MARA PATTON; PETER 
RICHARDS; DANTE SCHULTZ; WINFRED D. SMITH; ROBERT 

STODDARD and COLETTE STODDARD; NEIL WEST; LIANG XU 
and JIA LU DUAN, 

Appellants 

v. 

GARY SANFORD AND JANE DOE SANFORD; PAUL BURCKHARD 
and MURIEL BURCKHARD; JAMES SANSBURN and JANE DOE 
SANSBURN; RICHARD PETER and JANE DOE PETER; SHANA

I. Introduction 

Eighteen condominium unit owners sued eleven former members 

of their condominium association's board of directors (three of whom had 

been appointed by the declarant), the declarant and its parent company, 

and a private inspector for causes of action based on their concealment of 

material information regarding the existence of serious construction 

defects in common elements, and ignoring advice of professionals to 

investigate signs of defects prior to expiration of warranty rights. Some 

defendants were motivated by the desire to avoid warranty responsibility 

for the project, others by the desire to sell their units before problems 

became widely known. Still others were simply negligent. 

Plaintiffs' highly-detailed Complaint, filed in September of 20 11, 

alleges a shocking history of misfeasance, malfeasance, and concealment 

by the Board members, but contains no hint that any plaintiff had reason to 

know ofthe misconduct until, at the earliest, October of2009. 

On a motion to dismiss on the pleadings, the trial court dismissed 

all claims on statute of limitations grounds, having concluded that all 

claims accrued when the Defendants resigned from the association's 

Board, regardless of discovery, and regardless of whether plaintiffs were 

on inquiry notice of the claims or not. 
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A similar motion brought by the final defendant, when decided by 

a newly-assigned judge, was denied. 

II. Assignments of Error 

The trial court erred in dismissing plaintiffs' claims pursuant to 

defendants' CR 12(b)(6) motions for judgment on the pleadings. 

III. Statement of the Case 

A. Plaintiff's Complaint 

The plaintiffs Complaint of September 7, 2011 alleges 

substantially as follows. 

Each plaintiff is a residential unit owner at the Huckleberry Circle 

condominium complex ("the Project") in Issaquah, which is governed by 

the Huckleberry Circle Condominium Owners Association ("the 

Association"). Both the Project and the Association were created pursuant 

to the Washington Condominium Act ("WCA") at RCW 64.34 et seq. 

Accordingly, each plaintiff is an owner of an undivided fractional interest 

in all of the common elements of the Project, as well as separate owner of 

certain non-common elements. (CP 1-2). 

Defendant Huckleberry Circle, LLC ("the LLC") was the declarant 

of the Project, with its sole member being defendant Lozier Homes 

Corporation ("Lozier"). The LLC is an alter ego of Lozier. (CP 5). The 

LLC and Lozier constructed the Project, which was completed in late 
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2000. (CP 6). The Association was created on June 29, 2000, and the first 

sale of a unit to a bona fide purchaser occurred on November 6, 2000. (Id.) 

Defendants Sanford, Burckhard, and Sansburn ("the Developer 

Executives") were owners, officers and members of both the LLC and 

Lozier. (CP 3). All three were appointed to serve as officers on the 

Association's initial Board of Directors ("the Board.") (CP 3). The LLC 

and Lozier are vicarious liable for the acts of their agents, the Developer 

Executives. (CP 3). Together, the Developer Executives, the LLC and 

Lozier are referred to herein as "the Developers." 

During construction of the Project, the Developers became aware, 

or should have been aware, that the Project was not designed or 

constructed in a manner consisted with minimum building code 

requirements with respect to weatherproofing, and was riddled with 

defective construction. (CP 6). The pervasiveness of seriously defective 

building envelope construction in the Puget Sound area at the time was 

well known to the Developers. (CP 7). In order to protect themselves 

from potential warranty liability under the WCA for such defective 

construction, the Developers took several steps. First, they prepared a 

"limited warranty" disclaimer for use in sale of the Project units, which 

were ineffective as a matter of law. Second, they developed an ostensible 

"maintenance" program and instructed the property manager they had 
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retained to hire a person whom they falsely described as a "licensed 

inspector" to do "periodic inspections" of the Project. (CP 7). 

The actual purpose of the latter steps was to create an appearance 

of due diligence in inspection of the construction quality of the Project 

building envelopes, while in fact not undertaking the type of investigation 

necessary to reveal water intrusion and damage. Indeed, the 

recommended "maintenance" would not address the defective construction 

of the building envelopes, but would mask the effects of hidden defective 

construction ofthe weather barrier. (CP 7-8). The ostensibly "licensed 

inspector" the Developers hired had no relevant licenses; she was in fact a 

building industry political activist who tailored her views to meet the 

desires of her developer clients, and who took instruction from the 

Developers not to do an intrusive investigation of the Project. (CP 8). 

As further protection against warranty liability, the Developers 

inserted a provision in the Association's declaration of condominium 

whereby the LLC reserved the right,/or the duration o/its warranty 

responsibilities under the WCA, to appoint a person "to serve as a full non

voting member ofthe Association Board (with all the rights and powers of 

a Board member except for the right to vote.)" (CP 8). The Developers 

included other provisions in the declaration of condominium purporting to 
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limit the Association's power to institute litigation against the LLC for 

warranty redress under the WCA. (CP 9). 

Developer Executive Burkhardt resigned from the Board on May 

15,2001, having served for just under eleven months. When Burkhardt 

resigned, the LLC appointed defendant Holley, who was a unit purchaser, 

to serve on the Board, prior to transition of the Project to homeowner 

control, which would not occur for approximately another year. (CP 9-10). 

During this latter final year of declarant control from May of 200 1 

to May of 2002, the Developer's chosen "licensed inspector" performed 

three exterior, non-intrusive "investigations," none of which revealed the 

serious underlying defects in the construction. (CP 9). 

On May 9, 2002, the LLC held a meeting to turn control of the 

Board over to unit owners. Defendants Backues, Cusimano, and Peter 

were elected from among unit owners to the Board at that time. At the 

same time, the LLC appointed Developer Executive Sanford as its 

continuing Board member. Sanford's role was to monitor the Board's 

efforts to evaluate the construction quality of the Project, and dissuade it 

from prosecuting the Association's warranty rights. (CP 9-10). 

On July 11, 2002, the Board discussed the need to have a "reserve 

study" performed, which would address the need to plan for capital repairs 

and replacements at the Project. (CP 10). Although this need was raised 
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in Board meetings many more times, no reserve study would be performed 

until October of 2003, due to Board inaction. (CP 11-15). 

In August, 2012, the Board voted to retain an "experienced 

independent professional" consultant to participate in a "Project Walk 

Around" to indentify maintenance and repair items at the Project. The 

property manager retained by the Developers, at the Developer' s 

suggestion, recommended the same "licensed inspector" to do that work. 

(CP 10). Sanford did not advise the Board that the "licensed inspector" in 

fact had no experience helping condominium owners identify concealed 

defects and damage, that she was not a licensed inspector, or that her 

interest was in protecting the LLC from warranty claims. (CP 11). The 

resulting "walk around" revealed none of the serious defects in the 

building envelope. (CP 11). 

In early March of 2003, the Board was contacted by construction 

defect attorney Ken Harer, who is also a licensed architect. He advised 

the Board that he saw signs of potentially serious but hidden construction 

defects at the Project, and that the statute of limitations on the 

Association's warranty rights would soon expire. (CP 11). 

Defendant Peter met with attorney Harer, who reiterated his 

concerns. Thereafter, defendant Peter emailed defendants Backues and 

Cusimano about the meeting, expressing concern over the fact that he, 
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Peter, had a conflict of interest because he worked for a Lozier affiliate. 

Peter suggested that Developer Executive Sanford, as a full Board 

member, should be advised of the meeting. (CP 11-12). Defendant 

Cusimano in reply noted that the Board was investigating whether to have 

further inspection done due to their concern about "water drainage issues 

in units with a roof deck." (CP 12). Within days, Peter notified the others 

that he intended to resign on April 3, 2003, and gave the Board the 

materials he received from attorney Harer. (ld.) 

Instead of resigning, however, the Board had Peter "switch terms" 

with another member, so his slot would be open for election at the annual 

Association meeting at the end of May, 2003. By this means, the Board 

hid from homeowners the real reason for Peter leaving the Board: his 

conflict of interest and concerns about potential warranty claims. (CP 12). 

The Board took no action on attorney Harer's advice, and did not 

consult him again. (CP 12). 

Board meeting minutes (the records available to homeowners) 

contain no mention of attorney Harer's advice, defendant Peter's meeting 

with him, Peter's conflict of interest, the Board's roof-deck concerns, or 

the approaching expiration of WCA warranties. This omission was part of 

an effort to conceal this information from unit owners. (CP 13.) 
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Shortly after April 30, 2003, the Board leaned that a unit owner 

was complaining that her bedroom window was leaking into her unit. 

That information was not reported in the minutes. (CP 13). 

At the May 29, 2003 annual association meeting, the Board 

revealed none of these facts to the assembled owners. (CP 13-14). 

On August 20,2003, the property manager contacted a noted 

building envelope specialist and repair contractor, Mark lobe, to solicit 

bids for deck maintenance, and investigation of deck drainage problems. 

lobe replied: "Yes, that is a project I am familiar with. There appears to 

be a serious problem with deck slope. Ponded water is present under the 

sleeper. Also while I was there I noted the flashing above the brick 

veneer has been caulked closed. Closed flashing is a serious problem 

that generally leads to big issues. Also it is often used to mask other 

problems. This should be looked into. Would be glad to assist." (CP 

14) (Emphasis added). However, on learning ofMr. lobe's concerns, the 

Board took no action. (Id.) 

A month later, on September 22, 2003, defendant Cusimano 

emailed the other Board members noting a problem with "Water leaks in a 

unit with a deck over the den/office. This is the second deck to have water 

intrusion. Do we have a design flaw that needs to be addressed?" (CP 

14). The Board took no action in response. (Id.) 
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About two weeks later, the property manager received a draft 

reserve study, and asked its author to inspect the elastomeric decks where 

leaks had been occurring. The specialist refused, noting that "We do not 

perform forensic investigation and have assumed that these decks were 

installed correctly" and recommending "an envelope investigation for this 

property ... " (CP 15). This advice was conveyed to the Board, but it took 

no action on it, nor did it act on the prior urgent warnings of Harer and 

Jobe, nor even in response to the two roof/deck leaks and window leak. 

(Id.) Over the next three months, the Board continued to do nothing, even 

when another unit owner complained of water leaking into his unit. (Id.) 

In early January, 2004, Developer Executive Sanford wrote to the 

property manager the Developers had hired, misleadingly blaming the 

latest leak on a supposed lack of maintenance, and volunteering to have 

Lozier inspect all the roof/deck areas. (Id.) 

In mid January, 2004, defendant Backues abruptly resigned from 

the Board. (CP 16).1 

Near the end of January, 2004, a unit owner raised the issue of 

leaking roof/decks at an annual owner's meeting. The Board responded 

"that it was working to solve issues surrounding." (Id.) But for the next 

three months, the Board in fact did nothing. (CP 16). 

I The Complaint does not allege it, but defendant Farnsworth was apparently appointed 
to defendant Backues position. He served until March of2005. (CP 18). 
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In mid March, 2004, another complaint of a roof/deck leak was 

made directly to Lozier. A Lozier employee responded to the complaint. 

(ld.) Sanford, meanwhile, wrote a letter to the property manager again 

falsely and misleadingly blaming the leak in the roof/deck on gaps in 

caulking in the siding and wood trim and clogged weepholes in window 

frames, even though he had no evidence these were the source of the leaks 

(and in fact he knew or should have known that there were serious 

envelope deficiencies). (ld.) Developer Executive Sanford offered to 

have the LLC do deck maintenance work at no cost, as part of an effort to 

allay Board concerns and discourage its prosecution of a warranty claim. 

(ld.) The Board accepted that offer, but did not retain an independent 

consultant as it had three times been advised to do. (ld.) 

Instead, in May of2004, the Board authorized the Developer to 

"inspect" the decks at no cost to the Association, and recoat those with 

coating failures. (CP 17). At Developer Executive Sanford's suggestion, 

the Developer-retained property manager met with the so-called "licensed 

inspector" to arrange those roof/deck "inspections." (ld.) The resulting 

"inspections" were exterior only, performed from ground level, and were 

not reasonably calculated to determine the actual source of leaks. (ld.) 

She of course failed to note the serious signs of hidden defects that Harer 

and Jobe had spotted. She principally recommended the use of more caulk 

10 



(which Mr. lobe had noted would disguise and ultimately exacerbate the 

actual problem of hidden water intrusion), and described her 

recommendation as merely "general in nature." (CP 17-18). 

On October 15, 2004, the Board decided to commission a 

"Building Envelope Inspection." The Developer-retained property 

manager solicited a proposal from the same "licensed inspector" who 

(predictably) recommended a 4-hour, non-intrusive inspection costing 

$500, which was not calculated to reveal the actual causes of leaks or the 

extent of damage, and as such would accomplish little or nothing of value. 

(CP 18). She performed that desultory inspection on November 2, 2004. 

(Id.) Ultimately, her "inspection" report of November 24,2004 of course 

revealed nothing of the actual defects, and her recommendations consisted 

of yet more caulk and paint. (ld.) 

In the meantime, on November 6,2004, the WCA warranty on 

common elements expired. (ld.) 

A new Board consisting of defendants Cusimano, Philip and 

Hovda was in place by March 21, 2005. (ld.) Developer Executive 

Sanford continued as Board member for the next year. (CP 19).2 

2 Sanford stayed on the Board after the warranty on common elements expired, 
presumably because the WCA warranties on unit elements had not fully expired. Unit 
warranties run from the date of sale of a unit, rather than from the sale of the first unit in 
the project, as is generally the case for common element warranties. RCW 
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By the end of April, 2005, the Developer's deck recoating efforts 

were complete. But within six weeks, another owner complained of 

damage inside his den from a leaking deck. In response, and again at 

Developer Executive Sanford's recommendation, the Board again hired 

the same "licensed inspector" to inspect the Developer's deck recoating 

work. (CP 18). She of course failed to identify the source of leaks, and 

predictably recommended more caulk. (CP 19). 

Through the summer of 2005 to mid January of 2006, the Board 

received more complaints of leaking windows, doors, and decks. The 

Board did not retain a specialist to perform an intrusive inspection as it 

had repeatedly been advised to do. (CP 19)~ 

In February of 2006, the Board requested the property manager to 

solicit proposals for recaulking all the windows and doors on the south and 

west exposures of buildings. This was described in Board minutes as "a 

preventative measure against future water leaks." (Id.) 

By March 24, 2006, Developer Executive Sanford resigned from 

the Board. (Id.) 

None of the material information described in the Complaint was 

conveyed to homeowners via meeting minutes. (CP 419-420). 

64.34.452(2)(a). Presumably Sanford could have resigned earlier had all of the 
warranties expired along with the warranties on the common elements. 
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From February of2006 through November of2006, the Board 

received complaints of more leaks into unit interiors, including in the 

homes of Board members Philip and Cusimano. Nevertheless, the Board 

continued to conceal the severity of the problem from the homeowners at 

large, and characterized the proposed caulking work as a "preventative 

measure" rather than a response to known leaks. (CP 19-20). 

Defendant Philip was attempting to sell his unit, and the other 

Board members agreed to conceal the scope of the problem so as to retain 

property values at the Project. (CP 20). On June 27, 2006, Cusimano 

resigned from the Board because he was moving. (ld.) On July 20, 2006, 

Philip, too, resigned from the Board because he was moving. (ld.)3 

On December 29,2006, the Project property manager was advised 

that a contractor "has found the mother lode of dry rot at Huckleberry 

Circle." (CP 20). In the months that followed, the Board received more 

leak complaints, but took no systematic action to address the problem. 

Instead, they continued to conceal the scope of the complaints and the 

level of their concern from unit owners at large, and negligently continued 

to believe that Lozier or the LLC still had warranty responsibility for the 

Project. (CP 20). 

The Complaint does not specifically allege it, but the evidence will disclose that 
in fact Cusimano and Philip had sold their units, according to their plan. 
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In July of 2008, the Board finally approved an intrusive building 

envelope investigation by a competent engineering firm and an 

architectural firm. The firms advised the Board that they thought the 

situation would prove very serious and expensive. The Board panicked 

over the possible effect of this news on property values at the Project. It 

misleadingly told the unit owners that the investigation was "pertaining to 

future building maintenance and repair issues," with no mention of the 

evidence of serious, present construction defects requiring immediate 

correction. (CP 20-21). Indeed, defendant Peter asked by email that the 

Board actually be kept ignorant of the specialists' findings, so as not to 

impair marketability of the units! (CP 21). The Board agreed, and did not 

tell the unit owners that it had decided to deliberately ignore the results of 

what was in fact a construction defect investigation. (Id.) 

On February 24, 2009, the Board received a legal opinion from 

construction defect attorneys Goff & DeWalt that the limitations period on 

the common element warranties had expired. The Board did not advise 

the unit owners of this fact, either. (Id.) 

On March 23,2009, the architect issued a preliminary draft report 

which noted that "every major component of the building envelope is 

suffering from poor or deficient construction and waterproofing 

detailing throughout, resulting in varying degrees of failure around the 
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property ... the pace of intrusion and related damage will continue and 

accelerate until comprehensive and proper repairs are made to the building 

envelope." (ld., Emphasis added.) The report's findings were not shared 

by the Board with unit owners. (ld.) 

At an October 27, 2009 Association meeting, homeowners 

presented questions about the details of possible water intrusion repairs. 

The Board replied that the answers were "not known." (CP 22). The 

Board retained an attorney to sue the LLC for failing to repair 22 decks at 

the Project, but instructed him not to answer unit owner questions about 

the claims being asserted. (ldl 

In March of 2011, the Board received a partial estimate of repair 

costs totaling about $2.4 million. In May the Board imposed a $2.5 

million special assessment on unit owners, including plaintiffs. The 

Complaint alleges that future special assessments will be levied for repair 

costs totaling about $3 million. (ld.) 

The plaintiffs sued all of the defendants for breach of their duties 

of care as Board members in failing to act reasonably to evaluate the 

construction of the Project, failing to heed the advice of attorneys and 

construction professionals to inspect, failing to respond to known 

complaints, failing to retain legal counsel and relevant professionals,

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