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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

As a matter of first impression in this state, the Court of Appeals adopted the doctrine of "adverse domination" for tolling statutes of limitation. Whether the doctrine should apply in Washington and what form of the doctrine should apply in Washington are matters of substantial public interest that this Court should review.

Moreover, application of the doctrine to individual (as opposed to derivative) claims is unprecedented, unnecessary, and inappropriate as applied. The Court of Appeals' opinion effectively negates the statutes of limitation and repose for condominium and construction defect claims and, in adopting the doctrine of adverse domination, fails to account for the particular context of volunteer, non-profit condominium association boards, as opposed to boards of for-profit corporations.

Homeowners allege the board members failed to initiate suit against the declarant (Huckleberry Circle) or the contractor for construction defects and concealed from Homeowners information that would have apprised Homeowners of potential claims against the declarant or contractor. Defendants include both appointed and elected board members and Lozier, on the ground it was the sole member of the declarant and, as such, is vicariously liable for the conduct of Declarant Board Members.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal of all claims on statute of limitations grounds and adopted the doctrine of "adverse domination" to toll the statute of limitations. That court's application of the doctrine is unnecessary for adjudication of Homeowners' claims against Declarant Board Members (and Lozier) because those claims should be governed by the statute of limitations in

the WCA and the construction defect statute of repose. Because condominium boards always start with declarant-appointed boards, allowing such unit owners to sue declarant-appointed board members for what amount to WCA warranty claims would defeat the legislatively-mandated statute of limitations and repose in every case.

Further, application of the adverse domination doctrine is inappropriate to hold Declarant Board Members liable for decisions made by later board members. Homeowners allege that after two Declarant Board Members resigned (Sansburn and Burckhard) and one was only a non-voting member (Sanford), elected board members were informed by an attorney that there were signs of potentially serious defects and of the applicable statute of limitations, but did nothing. Adverse domination should not apply to toll claims against Declarant Board Members because Homeowners do not allege they failed to act on that information, since they were not involved with and did not control that decision.

The Court of Appeals' application of the adverse domination doctrine to toll the statute of limitations was unnecessary because traditional principles of agency law are sufficient to determine when or if board members' knowledge should be imputed to Homeowners. But if adverse domination should apply, the "majority" test for determining adversity is not a fair test to apply to volunteer members of a non-profit

condominium association board. Condominium associations, even if incorporated, are not like for-profit corporations—they are self-governing residential communities. Absent unanimous board action and involvement, there can be no "domination," because dissident board members are unit owners who have their own individual rights and motives to sue for alleged defects.

Grafting concepts from cases involving for-profit corporations (in which shareholders' ability to sue directors directly is generally limited to derivative actions and the flow of information from the board to shareholders is limited) onto self-governing, non-profit condominium associations is inapt, and it will interfere with condominium governance by making board service prohibitively dangerous and unattractive.

The proper scope and limits of duty and liability for both condominium board members and condominium declarants are matters of substantial public interest. This Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because this case of first impression creates unprecedented and potentially unlimited liability for condominium board members, and for declarants. This Court should examine whether to apply the doctrine of adverse domination to volunteer board members of condominium associations and, if so, how.

B. <u>ISSUE 1: The WCA statute of limitations and construction</u> <u>statute of repose apply to preclude suit against Declarant</u> Board Members and Lozier.

At its heart, Homeowners' claim is that the board members should be held liable for failing to timely bring a lawsuit on known information about alleged construction defects and then allegedly concealing such information about the defects from unit owners. Homeowners admit their claims under the WCA are time-barred but assert that they should be entitled to equivalent relief by suing the individual board members and Lozier.

The WCA has a strict statute of limitations: "A judicial proceeding for breach of any obligations arising under RCW 64.34.443 [express warranties], 64.34.445 [implied warranties], and 64.34.450 [implied warranties] must be commenced within four years after the cause of action accrues" RCW 64.34.452. Except for warranties of quality that explicitly extend to future performance or duration, the Legislature abolished use of the discovery rule to extend the time period for bringing such suits: "a cause of action [for] breach of warranty of quality, regardless of the purchaser's lack of knowledge of the breach, accrues" for common and limited common elements as of the latest of the date the

² There is no allegation that any such explicit warranties of future performance or duration are at issue here.

first unit was sold to a bona fide purchaser, the date the common element was completed, or the date the common element was added to the condominium.³ RCW 64.34.452(2) (emphasis added). Homeowners admit this limitation period expired on November 6, 2004. CP 18.

All condominium associations necessarily start out with a declarant-appointed association board, since the association must be formed "no later than the date the first unit in the condominium is conveyed." RCW 64.34.300. A condominium board at its inception comprises members affiliated with the declarant that appointed them—that is, owners or employees of the declarant or its affiliates. To the extent that the declarant-appointed board members act in the interests of the declarant—i.e., that they favor the declarant's and their own associated interests over those of the unit owners, causing damages recoverable under a breach of warranty—the claim against the board members is no different from a breach of warranty claim against the declarant. A business entity acts through its agents. The policies supporting the limitation on claims against the declarant apply equally to claims against its agents. Unless the statute of limitations in RCW 64.34.452, which is not extended by the

³ Homeowners are seeking to recover their proportional share of the costs associated with repairs to the common areas.

discovery rule, applies to such claims against declarant-appointed board members, the statute cannot achieve the result intended by the Legislature.

Similarly, Homeowners seek to evade the construction defect statute of repose (RCW 4.16.310) for claims against Lozier (whether for inspection, construction, relationship with the board members, or otherwise) for having allegedly "constructed, altered or repaired" the condominiums, or "having performed or furnished any design, planning, surveying, architectural or construction services, or supervision or observation of construction, or administration of construction contracts for any construction, alteration or repair." RCW 4.16.300.

Under RCW 4.16.310, all such claims must accrue within six years after completion of construction or be barred.⁴ Homeowners' claims regarding the original construction of the condominiums had to accrue as a matter of law, at the latest, by 2006.⁵

The Court of Appeals' decision effectively guts the Legislature's crafted balance of extensive disclosures coupled with a defined time for

⁴ See 1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 575, 146 P.3d 423 (2006).

The association can institute litigation on behalf of itself, or two or more unit owners. RCW 64.34.304(1)(d). As has been held by other courts, "[b]ecause a condominium association is the contractually and statutorily designated agent of the unit owners with respect to the maintenance and repair of the common elements, notice to the association of defects in those areas is deemed to be notice to the owner." Naranja Lakes Condo. No. Two, Inc. v. Rizzo, 463 So. 2d 378, 379 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1985) (citations omitted); see also Bellevue Pac. Ctr. Ltd. P'ship v. Bellevue Pac. Tower Condo. Owners Ass'n, 171 Wn. App. 499, 506, 287 P.3d 639 (2012) (rejecting as "plainly wrong" an argument that a settlement signed by the association cannot be enforced against individual unit owners).

liability that applies to construction and sale of condominiums. Whether Homeowners should be able to evade these statutes by suing Declarant Board Members or (derivatively) Lozier is a matter of substantial public interest, because the Court of Appeals' decision upsets the WCA's and construction defect statute's legislative schemes.

C. <u>ISSUE 2: Homeowners do not allege any culpable conduct by Declarant Board Members.</u>

At most, Homeowners' complaint alleges that Declarant Board Members did not conduct any destructive testing while they controlled the board between June 2000 and May 2002.⁶ The board was turned over to the elected board on May 9, 2002—two and a half years before the statute of limitations for breach of implied warranties against the declarant expired on November 6, 2004. Homeowners allege that some Elected Board Members were informed in April 2003 that the association or its members had a cause of action against the declarant, and they were advised to bring suit. CP 11-12. Homeowners allege that Elected Board Members had additional information about defects at the site and potential claims before November 6, 2004. CP 13-16.

⁶ The complaint also alleges that Declarant Board Members "protect[ed] themselves from potential liability" by the manner in which they drafted disclaimers, set up and documented a maintenance program, hired a property manager, and arranged for a "nonvoting" board member to be on the board. CP 7. But the complaint does not allege that these efforts resulted in any harm—namely, that they prevented any unit owner from learning the elements of a cause of action against the declarant or contractor until after the statute of limitations ran.

There are no allegations that Declarant Board Members had any role in concealing such information, and indeed the allegations are that they were not involved. There are, in other words, no allegations that Declarant Board Members adversely dominated the board when they served as board members with respect to the association's right to bring suit under the WCA.

Adverse domination is a variant of the doctrine of fraudulent concealment.⁷ "[P]laintiffs may not generally use the fraudulent concealment by one defendant as a means to toll the statute of limitations against other defendants." *Griffin v. McNiff*, 744 F. Supp. 1237, 1256 n.20 (S.D.N.Y. 1990), *aff'd*, 996 F.2d 303 (2d Cir. 1993); *see also Passatempo v. McMenimen*, 461 Mass. 279, 295, 960 N.E.2d 275 (2012).

The Court of Appeals ignored this principle and essentially held that so long as any board member was accused of concealing anything, the statute of limitations was tolled as to all previous board members, whether they were involved with the particular concealment at all. Here, almost a year or more before the board was allegedly advised by Harer to sue, Sansburn and Burckhard had resigned and Sanford had relinquished his

⁷ E.g., F.D.I.C. v. Henderson, 61 F.3d 421, 430 (5th Cir. 1995); In re O.E.M./Erie, Inc., 405 B.R. 779, 786 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 2009); Meridien Int'l Bank Ltd. v. Gov't of the Republic of Liberia, 23 F. Supp. 2d 439, 446 (S.D.N.Y. 1998).

voting rights. CP 9-11. They could not have "dominated" anything and were not at all involved in any later decision not to sue.⁸

The Court of Appeals' application of the adverse domination theory essentially extends the statute of limitations for so long as a creative plaintiff can make any generalized allegation of concealment against successive board members. Homeowners' allegations that the elected board acted "adversely" are inadequate, but regardless, Homeowners should not be able to use that adversity to extend the statute of limitations against Declarant Board Members (or their alteged principal, Lozier). Whether non-profit corporation board members can be held liable based on the action of other board members is a matter of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

D. <u>ISSUE 3: The Court of Appeals unnecessarily and incorrectly applied the doctrine of adverse domination.</u>

In the trial court and on appeal, defendants argued that even if the discovery rule applies to Homeowners' claims, the applicable statutes of limitations ran before suit was brought because the board members knew all relevant facts and their knowledge is imputed to the unit owners,

⁸ The Court of Appeals determined that board members could owe independent duties even to future unit owners based on the California Supreme Court's analysis of whether board members could be held liable for physical injuries to a unit owner caused by third-party criminal conduct. *Frances T. v. Vill. Green Owners Ass'n*, 42 Cal. 3d 490, 733 P.2d 573 (1986). But as recognized even by that case, as a matter of law, only directors who actually can and do vote can be held liable for commission of an alleged tort. *Id.*, 462 Cal. 3d at 511.

including Homeowners. Brief of Respondents Sanford et al., at 26-27.

Neither party briefed the issue of adverse domination. The Court of Appeals nevertheless held that the doctrine of adverse domination applied to toll the statute of limitations—the board members' knowledge would not be imputed to Homeowners while the board was dominated by a majority of culpable directors.

1. The Court of Appeals' application of the doctrine of adverse domination was unnecessary under the facts of this case.

As noted, application of the adverse domination doctrine in Washington is a matter of first impression; applying it to the facts alleged in this case is unique. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, "Typically the doctrine of adverse domination applies to derivative actions brought by shareholders on behalf of the corporation." 325 P.3d at 356. In fact, petitioners' research has disclosed no cases in which it has been applied outside that context and several cases in which courts have expressly refused to apply it in any other context. ¹⁰ One opinion specifically

⁹ Brief of Respondents Sanford et al., at 32-33 asserts that "adverse domination" could not apply under the facts of this case, a statement that elicited no reply from Homeowners.

¹⁰ See, e.g., City of E. Chicago v. E. Chicago 2nd Century, 878 N.E.2d 358, 381 (Ind. Ct. App. 2007), aff'd in relevant part, 908 N.E.2d 611, 622 n.2 (Ind. 2009); Sundbeck v. Sundbeck, No. 1:10-CV23-A-D, 2011 WL 5006430, *4 (N.D. Miss. Oct. 20, 2011) ("[T]he adverse domination doctrine is applicable to corporate actions, not direct actions pursued by an individual minority shareholder."); Arthaud v. Brignati, 10 Mass. L. Rptr. 403, 1999 WL 674328, *3, n.4 (Mass. Super. Ct. August 6, 1999); Berish v. Bornstein, 21 Mass. L. Rptr. 530, 2006 WL 2221924, *10 (Mass. Super. Ct. May 22, 2006).

questions whether as a matter of law the doctrine should apply to the volunteer board of a property association (but the facts did not support the doctrine's application). *Prairie W. Condo. Ass'n, Inc. v. Wiseman*, 203 P.3d 88, 2009 WL 743322, *3-4 (Kan. Ct. App. Mar. 13, 2009).

Whether a board member's knowledge can and should be imputed to Homeowners can be determined upon principles of agency law.

Agency law provides that an agent's knowledge will be imputed to the agent's principal unless the agent is acting adversely to the principal's interests. See, e.g., Deep Water Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Resources Ltd., 152 Wn. App. 229, 269, 215 P.3d 990 (2009).

It was unnecessary in this case for the Court of Appeals to adopt a doctrine never before adopted in Washington and to define its parameters under circumstances in which the doctrine has never been applied before, in Washington or elsewhere.

2. The Court of Appeals incorrectly required "complete domination" under the facts alleged.

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